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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K ("Form 10-K") and the documents incorporated by reference
may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Those forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties and include all statements that
are not historical statements of fact and those regarding our intent, belief or expectations, including, but not limited to,
our expectations concerning our commercial and residential markets and their effect on our operating results, and our
ability to increase revenues, earnings and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Words such as
“anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “target,” “project,” “predict,” “believe,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,”
similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These statements are based on
management’s current expectations and beliefs and are subject to a number of factors that could lead to actual results
materially different from those described in the forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the assumptions
underlying the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that our expectations will be
attained. Factors that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations or
future prospects or which could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not
limited to:

elobal economic conditions;

tompetition;

availability and costs of raw materials and energys;

key customers;

eonstruction activity;

costs savings and productivity initiatives;

strategic transactions;

tnformation systems and transition services;

personnel;

tntellectual property rights;

tnternational operations;

dabor;

claims and litigation;

fiquidity;

debt;

debt covenants;

outsourcing;

environmental and regulatory matters; and

other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), press
releases and other communications, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K
and in the documents incorporated by reference.

9 <. EEINT3 EEINT3 LT3

Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made. We expressly disclaim any obligation to
release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements to reflect any change in our expectations
with regard thereto or change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any statement is based.
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PART 1
Item 1. Business

Armstrong Flooring, Inc. ("AFI" or the "Company") is a Delaware corporation incorporated in 2015. When we refer to
"AFL" "the Company," "we," "our," and "us" in this report, we are referring to Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries.

We are a leading global producer of resilient flooring products for use primarily in the construction and renovation of
commercial, residential and institutional buildings. We design, manufacture, source and sell flooring products
primarily in North America and the Pacific Rim.

On April 1, 2016, we became an independent company as a result of the separation by Armstrong World Industries,
Inc. ("AWI"), a Pennsylvania corporation, of its Resilient Flooring and Wood Flooring segments from its Building
Products segment (the "Separation"). The Separation was effected by allocating the assets and liabilities related
primarily to the Resilient Flooring and Wood Flooring segments to AFI and then distributing the common stock of
AFI to AWT’s shareholders (the "Distribution"). The Separation and Distribution (together, the "Spin-off") resulted in
AFI and AWI becoming two independent, publicly traded companies, with AFI owning and operating the Resilient
Flooring and Wood Flooring segments and AWI continuing to own and operate a ceilings business.

In November 2018, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell our North American wood flooring business to
Tarzan Holdco, Inc. ("TZI"), a Delaware corporation and an affiliate of American Industrial Partners ("AIP"). The sale
was completed on December 31, 2018. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
related to discontinued operations. The historical financial results of the North American wood flooring business have
been reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements as a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

Products and Markets

We hold leadership or significant market share positions in the product categories and markets in which we operate.
We compete in the resilient flooring product category in North America and the Pacific Rim. The majority of our sales
are in North America, where we serve both commercial and residential markets. In the Pacific Rim, we are principally
focused on commercial markets.

The major markets in which we compete are:

North American Commercial — Our products are used in commercial and institutional buildings. Our revenue
opportunities come from new construction as well as renovation of existing buildings. Industry analysts estimate that
renovation work represents the majority of the total North American commercial market opportunity. Most of our
revenue comes from four major segments of commercial building: education, healthcare, retail and office. We monitor
U.S. construction starts and follow project activity. Our revenue from new construction can lag behind construction
starts by as much as twenty-four months given that the installation of flooring typically occurs later in the construction
process. We also monitor office vacancy rates, architectural activity, gross domestic product ("GDP") and general
employment levels, which can indicate movement in renovation and new construction opportunities. We believe that
these statistics, taking into account the time-lag effect, provide a reasonable indication of our future revenue
opportunity from commercial renovation and new construction. We also believe that consumer preferences for product
type, style, color, availability and affordability also significantly affect our revenue.



Edgar Filing: Armstrong Flooring, Inc. - Form 10-K

North American Residential — We sell products for use in single and multi-family housing. Homeowners, contractors,
builders, and property management firms can choose from our innovative flooring products. We compete directly with
other domestic and international suppliers of these products. Our flooring products also compete with carpet, stone,
wood and ceramic products, which we do not offer.

Our products are used in new home construction and existing home renovation work. Industry analysts estimate that
existing home renovation (also known as replacement/remodel) work represents a majority of the total
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North American residential market opportunity. We monitor key U.S. statistics including existing home sales (a key
indicator for renovation opportunity), housing starts, housing completions, home prices, interest rates and consumer
confidence. We believe there is some longer-term correlation between these statistics and our revenue after reflecting
a lag period of several months between a change in these indicators and our operating results. However, we believe
that consumers’ preferences for product type, style, color, availability and affordability also significantly affect our
revenue. Further, changes in inventory levels and/or product focus at national home centers and independent
wholesale flooring distributors can significantly affect our revenue.

Outside of North America — We also serve commercial markets in the Pacific Rim region with over 80% of the sales in
this region coming from China and Australia. The commercial segments we serve are similar to the North American
market (education, retail, office and healthcare). However there is a higher penetration of resilient flooring in the
hospitality (retail) and office segments in China than we see in North America. For the countries where we have
significant revenue, we monitor various national statistics (such as GDP) as well as construction data (starts and
project-related information).

LVT Investment — Luxury vinyl tile ("LVT") represents the fastest growing resilient flooring product category.
Through enhanced wear layers and coatings, LVT delivers improved durability and lower maintenance over
traditional vinyl tile. In addition, the utilization of advanced printing and embossing technology provides LVT with
upgraded visual realism in a wide variety of attractive wood and stone designs. LVT’s modular format offers a wide
range of installation options for the professional and do-it-yourself installer, with an enhanced ease of installation
when compared to other products such as wood or ceramic tile; this can be seen with the growing popularity of
floating and rigid LVT floors. The largest market for LVT is North America. Historically, this market has been largely
served by imported product manufactured in the Pacific Rim. In addition to our existing LVT capacity at our
Kankakee, Illinois plant, we completed construction of an expansion to our Lancaster, Pennsylvania plant in 2016 and
repurposed a portion of our Stillwater, Oklahoma vinyl sheet plant in 2017 to add LVT manufacturing capacity.

The following table provides an estimate of our 2018 net sales, by major markets.
North American North American Outside of North

Commercial Residential America
New Renovation New Renovation New Renovation Total
5% 35% 5% 35% 15% 5% 100%

Management has estimated the above data as the end-use of our products is not easily determinable.
Customers

We use our reputation, capabilities, service and brand recognition to develop long-standing relationships with our
customers. We principally sell products through independent wholesale flooring distributors, who re-sell our products
to retailers, builders, contractors, installers and others. In the commercial sector, we also have important relationships
with subcontractors’ alliances, large architect and design firms, and major facility owners in our focus segments. In the
North American retail channel, which sells to end-users in the residential and light commercial segments, we have
important relationships with national home centers and flooring retailers. In the North American residential sector, we
also have important relationships with major home builders and retail buying groups. Additionally, when market
conditions and available capacity warrant, we also provide products on an OEM basis to other flooring companies.

Approximately 75% of our consolidated net sales in 2018 are to distributors. Sales to large home centers account for
approximately 15% of our consolidated sales in 2018. Our remaining sales are primarily to other retailers, end-use
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customers and contractors.
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The Belknap White Group, which includes J. J. Haines and Company, Inc., accounted for 10% or more of our total
consolidated net sales in 2018.

Working Capital

We produce goods for inventory and sell on credit to our customers. Our distributors carry inventory as needed to
meet local or rapid delivery requirements. We sell the vast majority of our products to select, pre-approved customers
using customary trade terms that allow for payment in the future. These practices are typical within the industry.

Competition

We face strong competition in all of our businesses. Principal attributes of competition include product performance,
product styling, service and price. Competition in North America comes from both domestic and international
manufacturers. Additionally, some of our products compete with alternative products or finishing solutions. Our
resilient flooring products compete with carpet, stone, wood and ceramic products. There is excess industry capacity
for certain products in some geographies, which tends to increase price competition. The following companies are our
primary competitors:

Beaulieu International Group, N.V., Congoleum Corporation, Forbo Holding AG, Gerflor Group, Halstead
International (including Metroflor Corporation), Interface, Inc., Krono Holding AG, Mannington Mills, Inc., Mohawk
Industries, Inc., Nora Systems GmbH (division of Interface, Inc), Shaw Industries, Inc., and Tarkett AG.

Raw Materials

We purchase raw materials from numerous suppliers worldwide in the ordinary course of business. The principal raw
materials include: polyvinylchloride ("PVC") resins and films, plasticizers, fiberglass and felt backings, limestone,
pigments, inks, stabilizers and coatings.

We also purchase significant amounts of packaging materials and consume substantial amounts of energy, such as
electricity and natural gas, and water.

In general, adequate supplies of raw materials are available to all of our businesses. However, availability can change
for a number of reasons, including environmental conditions, laws and regulations, shifts in demand by other
industries competing for the same materials, transportation disruptions and/or business decisions made by, or events
that affect, our suppliers. If these suppliers were unable to satisfy our requirements, we believe alternative supply
arrangements would be available.

Prices for certain high usage raw materials can fluctuate dramatically. Cost increases for these materials can have a
significant adverse impact on our manufacturing costs.

Sourced Products
Some of our products are sourced from third parties. Our primary sourced products include LVT, vinyl sheet,
installation and maintenance materials and accessories, and laminate. We purchase most of our sourced products from

suppliers that are located outside of the U.S., primarily from Asia. Sales of sourced products represented
approximately 35% of our total consolidated revenue in 2018.

10
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In general, adequate supplies of sourced products are available to all of our businesses. However, availability can
change for a number of reasons, including environmental conditions, laws and regulations, production and
transportation disruptions and/or business decisions made by, or events that affect, our suppliers. If these suppliers
were unable to satisfy our requirements, we believe alternative supply arrangements would be available.

11
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Seasonality

Generally, our sales in North America tend to be stronger in the second and third quarters of our fiscal year due to
more favorable weather conditions, customer business cycles and education renovations typical during the summer
months. We see similar patterns with respect to our sales in the Pacific Rim, though the timing of the Chinese New
Year can affect buying behaviors.

Patent and Intellectual Property Rights

Patent protection is important to our business. Our competitive position has been enhanced by U.S. and foreign
patents on products and processes developed or perfected within AFI, including those before and after the Spin-off, or
obtained through acquisitions and licenses. In addition, we benefit from our trade secrets for certain products and
processes.

Patent protection extends for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of a
patent in the various countries where patent protection is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which
can vary from country to country, depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability of
legal remedies. Although we consider that, in the aggregate, our patents, licenses and trade secrets constitute a
valuable asset of material importance to our business, we do not regard any of our businesses as being materially
dependent upon any single patent or trade secret, or any group of related patents or trade secrets.

We own or have a license to use certain trademarks, including, without limitation, Armstrong®, Alterna®, BBT®,
Diamond 10® Technology, Excelon®, Imperial®, Initiator™, Inspiring Great Spaces®, Lock&Fold®, Luxe Plank®,
Medintech®, Memories™, Natural Creations®, Station Square™, StrataMax®, Timberline®, and Vivero®, which are
important to our business because of their significant brand name recognition. Trademark protection continues in
some countries as long as the mark is used, and continues in other countries as long as the mark is registered.
Registrations are generally for fixed, but renewable, terms.

We sublicense certain patents and trademarks to American Hardwood Flooring Company ("AHFC"), a subsidiary of
TZI.

Employees

As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately 1,800 full-time and part-time employees worldwide. Approximately
35% of our 900 production and maintenance employees are represented by labor unions. As of March 5, 2019,
approximately 150 employees at one of our domestic plants continue to work under an expired collective bargaining
agreement and negotiations continue. Contracts for remaining employees expire between 2019 and 2020. We believe
that our relations with our employees are satisfactory. Out of our 1,800 employees, approximately 100 employees are
part of the transition services agreement with TZI, and we expect most of them to transfer to TZI by the end of 2019.

12
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Legal and Regulatory Proceedings

AFI’s manufacturing and research facilities are affected by various federal, state and local requirements relating to the
discharge of materials and the protection of the environment. We make expenditures necessary for compliance with
applicable environmental requirements at each of our operating facilities. These regulatory requirements continually
change, therefore we cannot predict with certainty future expenditures associated with compliance with environmental
requirements.

We are involved in various lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal matters from time to time that arise in the
ordinary course of conducting business, including matters involving our products, intellectual property, relationships
with suppliers, distributors and competitors, employees and other matters. For example, we are currently a party to
various litigation matters that involve product liability, tort liability and other claims under a wide range of
allegations, including illness due to exposure to certain chemicals used in the workplace, or medical conditions arising
from exposure to product ingredients or the presence of trace contaminants. In some cases, these allegations involve
multiple defendants and relate to legacy products that we and other defendants purportedly manufactured or sold. We
believe these claims and allegations to be without merit and intend to defend them vigorously. While complete
assurance cannot be given to the outcome of these proceedings, we do not believe that any of these matters,
individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows.

We have not experienced a material adverse effect upon our capital expenditures or competitive position as a result of
environmental control legislation and regulations. There were no material liabilities recorded at December 31, 2018
for potential environmental liabilities, on a global basis, that we consider probable and for which a reasonable estimate
of the probable liability could be made. See Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Risk Factors in this
Form 10-K for information regarding the possible effects that compliance with environmental laws and regulations
may have on our businesses and operating results.

Website

We maintain a website at www.armstrongflooring.com. Information contained on our website is not incorporated into
this document. Reference in this Form 10-K to our website is an inactive text reference only. Annual reports on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, all amendments to those reports and other
information about us are available free of charge through this website as soon as reasonably practicable after the
reports are electronically filed with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Worldwide economic conditions could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, liquidity or results
of operations.

Our business is influenced by conditions in domestic and foreign economies, including inflation, deflation, interest
rates, availability and cost of capital, consumer spending rates, energy availability and the effects of governmental
initiatives to manage economic conditions. Volatility in financial markets and the continued softness or further
deterioration of national and global economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations, including as follows:

13
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the financial stability of our customers or suppliers may be compromised, which could result in additional bad debts

for us or non-performance by suppliers;
commercial and residential consumers of our products may postpone spending in response to tighter credit, negative
financial news and/or stagnation or further declines in income or asset values, which could have a material adverse

impact on the demand for our product;

14
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the fair value of the investment funds underlying our defined-benefit pension plans may decline, which could result in
negative plan investment performance and additional charges, and may involve significant cash contributions to such
plans to meet obligations or regulatory requirements; and

our asset impairment assessments and underlying valuation assumptions may change, which could result from
changes to estimates of future sales and cash flows that may lead to substantial impairment charges.

Continued or sustained deterioration of economic conditions would likely exacerbate and prolong these adverse
effects.

We compete with numerous flooring manufacturers in highly competitive markets. Competition can affect customer
preferences, reduce demand for our products, negatively affect our product sales mix, leverage greater financial
resources, Or cause us to lower prices.

Our markets are highly competitive. We compete for sales of flooring products with many manufacturers and
independent distributors of resilient flooring as well as with manufacturers who also produce other types of flooring
products. Some of our competitors have greater financial resources than we do. Competition can reduce demand for
our products, negatively affect our product sales mix or cause us to lower prices. Our failure to compete effectively
through management of our product portfolio, by meeting consumer preferences, maintaining market share positions
in our traditional categories and gaining market leadership in growth product categories such as LVT, could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. Our customers consider our
products' performance, product styling, customer service and price when deciding whether to purchase our products.
Shifting consumer preference in our highly competitive markets whether for performance or styling preferences or our
inability to develop and offer new competitive performance features, could have an adverse effect on our sales.

In addition, excess industry capacity for certain products in several geographic markets could lead to industry
consolidation and/or increased price competition. We are also subject to potential increased price competition from
overseas competitors, which may have lower cost structures.

If the availability of raw materials or energy decreases, or these and other sourcing costs increase and we are unable to
pass along increased costs, our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations could be adversely affected.

The availability and cost of raw materials, packaging materials, energy and sourced products are critical to our
operations. For example, we use substantial quantities of petroleum-based raw materials in our manufacturing
operations. The cost of some of these items has been volatile in recent years and availability has been limited at times.
We source some materials from a limited number of suppliers, which, among other things, increases the risk of
unavailability. We also source from overseas and could be subject to international trade costs, such as tariffs.This
dependency and any limited availability could cause us to reformulate products or limit our production. Decreased
access to raw materials and energy or significant increased cost to purchase these items, as well as increased
transportation and trade costs, and any corresponding inability to pass along such costs through price increases could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Sales fluctuations to and changes in our relationships with key customers could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Some of our business lines and markets are dependent on a few key customers, including independent distributors.

The loss, reduction, or fluctuation of sales to one of these major customers, or any adverse change in our business
relationship with any one of them, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results

15
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of operations.

Our business is dependent on construction activity. Downturns in construction activity could adversely affect our
financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

16
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Our business has greater sales opportunities when construction activity is strong and, conversely, has fewer
opportunities when such activity declines. The cyclical nature of commercial and residential construction activity,
including construction activity funded by the public sector, tends to be influenced by prevailing economic conditions,
including the rate of growth in GDP, prevailing interest rates, government spending patterns, business, investor and
consumer confidence and other factors beyond our control. Prolonged downturns in construction activity could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Our cost saving initiatives may not achieve expected savings in our operating costs or improved operating results.

We aggressively look for ways to make our operations more efficient and effective. We reduce, move and expand our
plants and operations as needed. Such actions involve substantial planning, often require capital investments and may
result in charges for fixed asset impairments or obsolescence and substantial severance costs. We also announced a
cost optimization plan in connection with the sale of our wood business. Our ability to achieve cost savings and other
benefits within expected time frames is subject to many estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions
are subject to significant economic, competitive and other uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. If
these estimates and assumptions are incorrect, if we experience delays, or if other unforeseen events occur, our
financial condition, liquidity or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We may pursue strategic transactions that could create risks and present unforeseen integration obstacles or costs, any
of which could materially adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

We have evaluated, and expect to continue to evaluate, potential strategic transactions as opportunities arise. We
routinely engage in discussions with third parties regarding potential transactions, including joint ventures, which
could be significant. Any such strategic transaction involves a number of risks, including potential disruption of our
ongoing business and distraction of management, difficulty with integrating or separating personnel and business
operations and infrastructure, and increasing or decreasing the scope, geographic diversity and complexity of our
operations. Strategic transactions could involve payment by us of a substantial amount of cash, assumption of
liabilities and indemnification obligations, regulatory requirements, incurrence of a substantial amount of debt or
issuance of a substantial amount of equity. Certain strategic opportunities may not result in the consummation of a
transaction or may fail to realize the intended benefits and synergies. If we fail to consummate and integrate our
strategic transactions in a timely and cost-effective manner, our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected.

Disruptions to or failures of our various information systems could have an adverse effect on our business and could
impact our ability to perform transitional services following the sale of our wood business.

We rely heavily on our information systems to operate our business activities, including, among other things,
purchasing, distribution, inventory management, processing, shipping and receiving, billing and collection, financial
reporting and record keeping. We also rely on our computer hardware, software and network for the storage, delivery
and transmission of data to our sales and distribution systems, and certain of our production processes are managed
and conducted by computer. Any interruption, whether caused by human error, natural disasters, power loss, computer
viruses, system conversion, intentional acts of vandalism, or various forms of cyber crimes including and not limited
to hacking, intrusions, malware or otherwise, could disrupt our normal operations and inhibit our ability to perform
certain transition services in connection with the sale of our wood business. There can be no assurance that we can
effectively carry out our disaster recovery plan to handle the failure of our information systems, or that we will be able
to restore our operational capacity within sufficient time to avoid material disruption to our business. The occurrence
of any of these events could cause unanticipated disruptions in service, decreased customer service and customer
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satisfaction, harm to our reputation and loss or misappropriation of sensitive information, which could result in loss of
customers, increased operating expenses and financial losses. Any such events could in turn have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
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Our performance depends on our ability to attract, develop and retain talented management.

We must attract, develop and retain qualified and talented personnel in senior management, sales, marketing, product
design, and operations. We compete with numerous companies for these employees and invest resources in recruiting,
developing, motivating and retaining them. The failure to attract, develop, motivate and retain key employees could
negatively affect our competitive position, execution on strategic priorities and operating results.

Our intellectual property rights may not provide meaningful commercial protection for our products or brands, which
could adversely impact our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

We rely on our proprietary intellectual property, including numerous patents and registered trademarks, as well as our
licensed intellectual property to market, promote and sell our products. We will monitor and protect against activities
that might infringe, dilute, or otherwise harm our patents, trademarks and other intellectual property and rely on the
patent, trademark and other laws of the United States and other countries. However, we may be unable to prevent third
parties from using our intellectual property without our authorization. In addition, the laws of some non-United States
jurisdictions, particularly those of certain emerging markets, will provide less protection for our proprietary rights than
the laws of the United States and present greater risks of counterfeiting and other infringement. To the extent we
cannot protect our intellectual property, unauthorized use and misuse of our intellectual property could harm our
competitive position and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

We are subject to risks associated with our international operations in both established and emerging markets.
Legislative, political, regulatory and economic volatility, as well as vulnerability to infrastructure and labor
disruptions, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

A portion of our products move in international trade, with approximately 15% of our revenues from operations
outside the United States and Canada in 2018. Our international trade is subject to currency exchange fluctuations,
trade regulations, tariffs, import duties, logistics costs, delays and other related risks. Our international operations are
also subject to various tax rates, credit risks in emerging markets, political risks, uncertain legal systems, and loss of
sales to local competitors following currency devaluations in countries where we import products for sale.

In addition, our international growth strategy depends in part on our ability to expand our operations in certain
emerging markets. However, some emerging markets have greater political and economic volatility and greater
vulnerability to infrastructure and labor disruptions than established markets. In many countries outside of the United
States, particularly in those with developing economies, it may be common for others to engage in business practices
prohibited by laws and regulations applicable to us, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or similar local
anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws, which generally prohibit companies and their employees, contractors or agents
from making improper payments to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Failure to
comply with these laws, as well as U.S. and foreign export and trading laws, could subject us to civil and criminal
penalties. As we continue to expand our business globally, including in emerging markets, we may have difficulty
anticipating and effectively managing these and other risks that our international operations may face, which may
adversely affect our business outside the United States and our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Increased costs of labor, labor disputes, work stoppages or union organizing activity could delay or impede production
and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Increased costs of U.S. and international labor, including the costs of employee benefits plans, labor disputes, work
stoppages or union organizing activity could delay or impede production and have a material adverse effect on our
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financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. As the majority of our manufacturing employees are represented
by unions and covered by collective bargaining or similar agreements, we often incur costs attributable to periodic
renegotiation of those agreements, which may be difficult to project. We are also subject to the risk that strikes or
other conflicts with organized personnel may arise or that we may become the subject of union organizing activity at
our
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facilities that do not currently have union representation. Prolonged negotiations, conflicts or related activities could
also lead to costly work stoppages and loss of productivity.

Adverse judgments in regulatory actions, product claims, environmental claims and other litigation could be costly.
Insurance coverage may not be available or adequate in all circumstances.

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to various claims and litigation. Any such claims, whether with or
without merit, could be time consuming and expensive to defend and could divert management’s attention and
resources. While we will strive to ensure that our products comply with applicable government regulatory standards
and internal requirements, and that our products perform effectively and safely, customers from time to time could
claim that our products do not meet warranty or contractual requirements, or were improperly installed and users
could claim to be harmed by use or misuse of our products. These claims could give rise to breach of contract,
warranty or recall claims, or claims for negligence, product liability, strict liability, personal injury or property
damage. They could also result in negative publicity.

In addition, claims and investigations may arise related to patent infringement, distributor relationships, commercial
contracts, antitrust or competition law requirements, employment matters, employee benefits issues, and other
compliance and regulatory matters, including anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters. For example, we are currently a
party to various litigation matters that involve product liability, tort liability and other claims under a wide range of
allegations, including illness due to exposure to certain chemicals used in the workplace, or medical conditions arising
from exposure to product ingredients or the presence of trace contaminants. In some cases, these allegations involve
multiple defendants and relate to legacy products that we and other defendants purportedly manufactured or sold.
While we have processes and policies designed to mitigate these risks and to investigate and address such claims as
they arise, we will not be able to predict or, in some cases, control the costs to defend or resolve such claims.

We currently maintain insurance against some, but not all, of these potential claims. In the future, we may not be able
to maintain insurance at commercially acceptable premium levels. In addition, the levels of insurance we maintain
may not be adequate to fully cover any and all losses or liabilities. If any significant judgment or claim is not fully
insured or indemnified against, it could have a material adverse impact. We cannot assure that the outcome of all
current or future litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

We require a significant amount of liquidity to fund our operations.

Our liquidity needs vary throughout the year. If our business experiences materially negative unforeseen events, we
may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund our needs or maintain sufficient liquidity to
operate and remain in compliance with our debt covenants, which could result in reduced or delayed planned capital
expenditures and other investments and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

Our indebtedness may adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business, make payments on our
indebtedness and declare dividends on our capital stock.

Our level of indebtedness and degree of leverage could:
make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness;
make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions and

adverse changes in government regulation;
4imit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;
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place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less leveraged and, therefore, more able
to take advantage of opportunities that our leverage prevents us from pursuing;

limit our ability to refinance existing indebtedness or borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital
expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements, execution of our business strategy or other purposes;

10
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restrict our ability to pay dividends on our capital stock; and
adversely affect our credit ratings.

We may also incur additional indebtedness, which could exacerbate the risks described above. In addition, to the
extent that our indebtedness bears interest at floating rates, our sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations will increase.

Any of the above listed factors could materially adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

Our credit agreement contains a number of covenants that impose significant operating and financial restrictions,
including restrictions on our ability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests.

Our $150 million secured credit facility (the “Credit Facility”’) and the underlying credit agreement that governs our
indebtedness includes covenants that, among other things, may impose significant operating and financial restrictions,
including restrictions or limitations on our ability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests.
These covenants may restrict or limit our ability to:

encur additional indebtedness;

pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock or indebtedness;
make investments, loans, advances and acquisitions;

engage in transactions with our affiliates;

sell assets, including capital stock of our subsidiaries;

consolidate or merge;

create liens;

change the nature of our business; and

enter into sale and lease back transactions.

Under the terms of the Credit Facility, we are required to maintain a specified fixed charge coverage and net leverage
ratios. Our ability to meet these ratios could be affected by events beyond our control, and we cannot assure that we
will meet them. A breach of any of the restrictive covenants or ratios would result in a default under the Credit
Facility. If any such default occurs, the lenders under the Credit Facility may be able to elect to declare all outstanding
borrowings under our facilities, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable, or
enforce their security interest. The lenders may also have the right in these circumstances to terminate commitments to
provide further borrowings.

We outsource our information technology infrastructure and certain finance and accounting functions, which makes us
more dependent upon third parties.

In an effort to make our finance, accounting and information technology (“IT”) functions more efficient, increase related
capabilities, as well as generate cost savings, we outsource certain finance and accounting functions and a significant
portion of our IT infrastructure to separate third party service providers. As a result, we rely on third parties to ensure
that our related needs are sufficiently met. This reliance subjects us to risks arising from the loss of control over

certain processes, changes in pricing that may affect our operating results, and potentially, termination of provisions of
these services by our suppliers. A failure of our service providers to perform may have a material adverse effect on

our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.
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We may be subject to liability under and may make substantial future expenditures to comply with environmental
laws and regulations, which could materially adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

11
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We are involved with environmental investigation and remediation activities for which our ultimate liability may
exceed the currently estimated and accrued amounts. It is possible that we could become subject to additional
environmental matters and corresponding liabilities in the future. See Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information related to environmental matters.

Our industry has been subject to claims relating to raw materials. We have not received any significant claims
involving our raw materials or our product performance; however, product liability insurance coverage may not be
available or adequate in all circumstances to cover claims that may arise in the future.

In addition, our operations are subject to various domestic and foreign environmental, health, and safety laws and
regulations. These laws and regulations not only govern our current operations and products, but also impose potential
liability on us for our past operations. Our costs to comply with these laws and regulations may increase as these
requirements become more stringent in the future, and these increased costs may materially adversely affect our
financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Risks Related to the Separation from AWI

If the Separation and Distribution fails to qualify as a tax-free transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then
we could be subject to significant tax liability or tax indemnity obligations.

AWTI received an opinion of AWTI’s tax counsel, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, on the basis of certain
facts, representations, covenants and assumptions set forth in such opinion, substantially to the effect that, for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, the Separation and Distribution should qualify as a transaction that generally is tax-free
to AWI and AWT’s shareholders, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the
Internal Revenue Code.

Notwithstanding the tax opinion, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) could determine on audit that the Distribution
should be treated as a taxable transaction if it determines that any of the facts, assumptions, representations or
covenants set forth in the tax opinion is not correct or has been violated, or that the Distribution should be taxable for
other reasons, including as a result of a significant change in stock or asset ownership after the Distribution, or if the
IRS were to disagree with the conclusions of the tax opinion. If the Distribution is ultimately determined to be taxable,
the Distribution could be treated as a taxable dividend to shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and
shareholders could incur significant U.S. federal income tax liability. In addition, AWI and/or we could incur
significant U.S. federal income tax liabilities or tax indemnification obligations, whether under applicable law or the
Tax Matters Agreement that we entered into with AWI, if it is ultimately determined that certain related transactions
undertaken in anticipation of the Distribution are taxable.

We will be required to satisfy certain indemnification obligations to AWI or may not be able to collect on
indemnification rights from AWI.

Under the terms of the Separation and Distribution, we will indemnify AWI from and after the Separation and
Distribution with respect to (i) all debts, liabilities and obligations allocated or transferred to us in connection with the
Separation and Distribution (including our failure to pay, perform or otherwise promptly discharge any such debts,
liabilities or obligations after the Separation and Distribution), (ii) any misstatement or omission of a material fact in
our Information Statement, dated March 24, 2016, resulting in a misleading statement, (iii) any breach by us of the
Separation and Distribution Agreement, the Employee Matters Agreement, the Tax Matters Agreement, the Campus
Lease Agreement or the Trademark License Agreements and (iv) our ownership and operation of our business. We are
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not aware of any existing indemnification obligations at this time, but any such indemnification obligations that may
arise could be significant. Under the terms of the Separation and Distribution Agreement, AWI will indemnify us from
and after the Separation and Distribution with respect to (i) all debts, liabilities and obligations allocated to AWI after
the Separation and Distribution (including its failure to pay, perform or otherwise promptly discharge any such debts,
liabilities or

12
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obligations after the Separation and Distribution), (ii) any breach by AWI of the Separation and Distribution
Agreement, the Employee Matters Agreement, the Tax Matters Agreement, the Campus Lease Agreement or the
Trademark License Agreements and (iii) AWI’s ownership and operation of its business. Our and AWTI’s ability to
satisfy these indemnities, if called upon to do so, will depend upon our and AWT’s future financial strength. If we are
required to indemnify AWI, or if we are not able to collect on indemnification rights from AWI, our financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. We cannot determine whether
we will have to indemnify AWI, or if AWI will have to indemnify us, for any substantial obligations after the
Distribution.

Risks Related to our Common Stock
A stockholder's percentage of ownership in us may be diluted in the future.

A stockholder's percentage ownership in us may be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions, capital market
transactions or otherwise, including, without limitation, equity awards that we may grant to our directors, officers and
employees. Such issuances may have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share, which could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.

In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue, without the approval of our
stockholders, one or more classes or series of preferred stock having such designation, powers, preferences and
relative, participating, optional and other special rights, including preferences over our common stock with respect to
dividends and distributions, as our board of directors generally may determine. The terms of one or more classes or
series of preferred stock could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our common stock. For example, we
could grant the holders of preferred stock the right to elect some number of our directors in all events or on the
happening of specified events or to veto specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or
liquidation preferences we could assign to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of our common
stock.

Certain provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law, may
prevent or delay an acquisition of our company, which could decrease the trading price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain, and Delaware law
contains, provisions that are intended to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids by making
such practices or bids unacceptably expensive to the bidder and to encourage prospective acquirers to negotiate with
our board of directors rather than to attempt a hostile takeover. These provisions include, among others:

the inability of our stockholders to call a special meeting;
rules regarding how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at stockholder meetings;
the right of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval;
the initial division of our board of directors into three classes of directors, with each class serving a staggered
. three-year term, and this classified board provision could have the effect of making the replacement of
incumbent directors more time consuming and difficult until we have phased out our staggered board;
& provision that directors serving on a classified board may be removed by stockholders only for cause; and
the ability of our directors, and not stockholders, to fill vacancies on our board of directors.

In addition, because we are subject to Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the
“DGCL”), this provision could also delay or prevent a change in control that stockholders may favor. Section 203
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provides that, subject to limited exceptions, persons that acquire, or are affiliated with a person that acquires, more
than 15% of the outstanding voting stock of a Delaware corporation shall not engage in any business combination
with that corporation, including by merger, consolidation or acquisitions of additional shares, for a three-year period
following

13
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the date on which that person or its affiliates becomes the holder of more than 15% of the corporation’s outstanding
voting stock.

We believe these provisions will protect our stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by
requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors and by providing our board of directors with
more time to assess any acquisition proposal. These provisions are not intended to make us immune from takeovers.
However, these provisions will apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders and the
provisions could delay or prevent an acquisition that our board of directors determines is not in the best interests of
AFI and its stockholders. These provisions may also prevent or discourage attempts to remove and replace incumbent
directors.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

Our world headquarters is located in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. We entered into a lease agreement with AWI under
which we lease certain portions of their current headquarters as our corporate headquarters. See Note 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the terms of the Campus Lease Agreement. We have also
subleased a portion of our corporate headquarters to TZI in connection with the sale of our wood business.

We produce and market our flooring products and services throughout the world, owning and operating 8
manufacturing plants in three countries. We operate 6 manufacturing plants located throughout the United States,
(California, Illinois, Mississippi, Oklahoma, and Pennsylvania) and one plant each in China and Australia.

Our sales and administrative offices are leased and/or owned worldwide, and leased facilities are utilized to
supplement our owned warehousing facilities.

Production capacity and the extent of utilization of our facilities are difficult to quantify with certainty. In any one
facility, utilization of our capacity varies periodically depending upon demand for the product that is being
manufactured. We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable to support the business. Additional incremental

investments in plant facilities are made as appropriate to balance capacity with anticipated demand, improve quality

and service, and reduce costs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of our
management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

AFI’s common shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “AFL.” As of February 28, 2019,
there were approximately 214 holders of record of AFI’s common stock.

There were no dividends declared during 2018 or 2017.

AFI currently expects to return a portion of the net proceeds from the sale of the wood business to shareholders in an
amount, manner, and timing to be determined by the board of directors. Return of the net proceeds rests solely within
the discretion of our board of directors and will depend, among other things, upon AFI’s earnings, capital
requirements, financial condition, legal requirements, regulatory constraints, covenants associated with certain of
AFI’s debt service obligations, industry practice, and other relevant factors as determined by our board of directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table includes information about our stock repurchases from October 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018:
Total
Number
Total Averagef Shares

Number Price PurChasedApproximate Dollar Value of Shares that may yet be Purchased under

Period of Shares Paid as Part of the Plans or Proerams
Purchasedper  Publicly &
1 Share Announced
Plans or
Programs
October 1 - 31, e
2018 259 $17.96 — $9 million
November 1 - 30, e
2018 258 $16.02 — $9 million
December 1 - 31, e
2018 — — — $9 million
Total 517 — $9 million

I Shares reacquired through the withholding of shares to pay employee tax obligations upon the exercise of options or
vesting of restricted units granted under our long-term incentive plans and those previously granted under AWI's
long-term incentive plans, which were converted to AFI units on April 1, 2016.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected historical consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited
Consolidated Financial Statements, the accompanying notes and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations included in this Form 10-K. The Consolidated Financial Statements for periods
prior to the Spin-off include the historical results of operations, assets and liabilities of the legal entities that are
considered to comprise AFI and may not be indicative of results had we actually been a separate stand-alone entity
during such periods, nor are they necessarily indicative of our future financial position, results of operations and cash
flows. The historical financial results of the North American wood flooring business have been reflected in our
Consolidated Financial Statements as a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Income statement data

Net sales $728.2 $704.1 $710.1 $7169 $717.3
Operating (loss) income (174 ) (127 ) (125 ) (11.7 ) 179
(Loss) income from continuing operations (19.1 ) (17.1 ) (162 ) (6.4 ) 8.6
Per common share - basic (1) $(0.73) $(0.63) $(0.58) $(0.23) $0.31
Per common share - diluted (1 (0.73 ) (0.63 ) (0.58 ) (0.23 ) 0.31

Dividends declared per share of common stock — — — — —
Balance sheet data (end of period)

Total assets $708.2 $890.1 $904.4 $870.6 $858.0
Long-term debt 70.6 85.0 20.0 10.2 10.2

() For 2014-20135, basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share were calculated based on 27,738,779 shares of AFI
common stock distributed on April 1, 2016.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

Armstrong Flooring, Inc. ("AFI" or the "Company") is a leading global producer of flooring products for use primarily
in the construction and renovation of commercial, residential and institutional buildings. We design, manufacture,
source and sell resilient flooring products primarily in North America and the Pacific Rim. As of December 31, 2018,
we operated 8 manufacturing plants in three countries, including 6 manufacturing plants located throughout the U.S.
and one plant each in China and Australia.

Geographic Areas
See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional financial information by geographic areas.
Recent Events

On April 1, 2016, Armstrong World Industries, Inc. ("AWI"), a Pennsylvania corporation, separated AWI’s Resilient
Flooring and Wood Flooring segments from its Building Products segment (the "Separation"). The Separation was
effected by allocating the assets and liabilities related primarily to the Resilient Flooring and Wood Flooring segments
to AFI and then distributing the common stock of AFI to AWI’s shareholders (the "Distribution"). The Separation and
Distribution (together, the "Spin-off") resulted in AWI and AFI becoming two independent, publicly traded
companies, with AFI owning and operating the Resilient Flooring and Wood Flooring segments and AWI continuing
to own and operate a ceilings business. On the distribution date, each holder of AWI common stock received one
share of AFI's common stock for every two shares of AWI's common stock held on the record date.

The Spin-off was completed pursuant to a Separation and Distribution Agreement and several other agreements with
AWTI related to the Separation, including a Transition Services Agreement, a Tax Matters Agreement, an Employee
Matters Agreement, a Trademark License Agreement, a Transition Trademark Agreement and a Campus Lease
Agreement, each of which was filed with the SEC as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K on April 4, 2016.
These agreements govern the relationship between AFI and AWI following the Spin-off and provided for the

allocation of various assets, liabilities, rights and obligations. For a discussion of each agreement, see the section

entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions — Agreements with AWI” in our Information Statement,
dated March 24, 2016.

Our Registration Statement on Form 10 was declared effective by the SEC on March 15, 2016 and our common stock
began regular-way trading on the New York Stock Exchange on April 4, 2016 under the symbol AFI.

During the second quarter of 2017, we acquired vinyl composition tile ("VCT") assets of Mannington Mills, Inc., a
nationally recognized flooring company, for a cash purchase price of $36.1 million including transaction costs (the
"VCT Acquisition"). See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

On November 14, 2018, AFI entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Tarzan Holdco Inc., ("TZI"), an affiliate
of American Industrial Partners ("AIP"), to sell our North American wood flooring business. On December 31, 2018
AIP completed the purchase of all of the issued and outstanding shares of Armstrong Wood Products, Inc., a Delaware
Corporation ("AWP"), including its direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. We received proceeds of $90.2
million, net of closing costs, transaction fees and taxes. The transaction is subject to a customary post-closing working
capital adjustment process. The historical financial results of the North American wood flooring business have been
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reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements as a discontinued operation for all periods presented.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Factors Affecting Our Business
Net Sales
Overview

Demand for our products is influenced by economic conditions. We closely monitor publicly available
macroeconomic trend data that provides insight to commercial and residential market activity; this includes Gross
Domestic Product growth indices, the Architecture Billings Index and the Consumer Confidence Index, as well as
housing starts and existing home sales.

Demand for our products is also influenced by consumer preferences. During 2018, we continued to experience
growth in the demand for luxury vinyl tile ("LVT") in conjunction with a decline in our traditional resilient products,
particularly vinyl sheet. In addition, our channel partners raise or lower their inventory levels according to their
expectations of market demand and consumer preferences, which directly affects our sales. Higher than normal
inventory levels at distributors could impact sales in the first quarter of 2019, as could continued uncertainty around
tariffs from products imported from China.

Markets

We compete in both the commercial and residential markets in North America and primarily the commercial market in
the Pacific Rim. Our business operates in a competitive environment across all our product categories, and excess
capacity exists in much of the industry. We continue to see efforts by various competitors to price aggressively as a
means to gain market share.

We have experienced a decline in demand for our traditional resilient products, particularly vinyl sheet products used
in residential applications. The decline in vinyl sheet is driven by loss of market share to competitors as well as
consumer trends, which have continued to favor alternate products, including LVT products.

The flooring market continues to experience LVT growth. Given its attractive visuals and performance characteristics,
LVT growth has exceeded that of the overall flooring market. We believe LVT growth has and will continue to come
partially at the expense of other product categories in both the soft and hard surface flooring markets, with the largest
impacts on the AFI portfolio within the vinyl sheet and VCT categories.

We are the largest producer of VCT. The market for VCT, which is primarily used in commercial environments, is a
mature and well-structured category.

Operating Expenses

We have experienced increased raw material prices and basic energy costs which we expect to continue to experience
in 2019. Additionally, we expect increases in transportation costs in 2019.

Tariff

The U.S. government announced a tariff of 10% on certain flooring products imported to the U.S. from China,
effective on September 24, 2018. This tariff increase has an impact on products we import from China. In order to
partially offset the impact, we have implemented price increases that went into effect in the fourth quarter of 2018. A
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potential tariff increase to 25% was announced but has been delayed indefinitely. We expect to implement additional
price changes in line with potential tariff rate increases if and when they become effective.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Results of Operations

2018 Compared to 2017
Consolidated Results from Continuing Operations

Year Ended December 31,

Change

(Dollars in millions) 2018 2017 % %
Net sales $728.2 $704.1 $24.1 34 %
Cost of goods sold 585.0 553.0 32.0 58 %
Gross profit 143.2 151.1 (79 ) (5.2)%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 160.6 163.8 (3.2 ) (2.0)%
Operating (loss) (174 ) (12.7 ) 4.7 ) NM
Interest expense 4.8 2.7 2.1
Other expense, net 2.9 3.7 (0.8 )
(Loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (25.1 ) (19.1 ) (6.0 )
Income tax (benefit) 6.0 ) (20 )40 )
(Loss) from continuing operations (19.1 ) (17.1 ) 2.0 )
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 9.9 24.7 ) 34.6
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax  (153.8 ) — (153.8 )
Net loss from discontinued operations $(143.9) $(24.7) $(119.2)
Net (loss) $(163.0) $(41.8) $(121.2)

NM: not meaningful
Net Sales

Net sales by percentage point change are shown in the table below:
Year Ended Change Percentage Point Change
December 31, Due to

(Dollars in millions) 2018 2017 $ % Pric&/olume Mix Currency
$728.2 $704.1 $24.1 34% 1.0 2.2 ) 45 0.1

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily
due to favorable mix and increase in price in response to higher input costs, partially offset by lower volume.
Double-digit sales growth in LVT contributed to favorable mix while volume was impacted by declines in traditional
categories.

Operating (Loss)

Operating results for the year ended December 31, 2018 declined compared to the year ended December 31, 2017.

The decline reflected the impact of higher input costs which more than offset the benefit of higher net sales, lower
manufacturing costs, improved productivity and lower selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Other expense, net: Other expense, net of $2.9 million and $3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively, primarily reflected costs for defined-benefit pension and postretirement plans.

Income tax expense: For the year ended December 31, 2018 we recorded an income tax benefit of $6.0 million
compared to an income tax benefit of $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The effective tax rates were
23.9% and 10.5% for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The tax benefit rate was higher in
2018 primarily due to domestic valuation allowances established during the prior period and the release of foreign
valuation allowances in 2018 offset by the reduction in the U.S. tax rate from 35% to 21% in 2018.

Discontinued operations: For the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 discontinued operations earnings of $9.9
million and loss of $24.7 million, respectively, reflected the operating results of the North American wood flooring
business. In 2018, we recognized a loss on the sale of the North American wood flooring business of $153.8 million.
See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2017 Compared to 2016
Consolidated Results from Continuing Operations

Year Ended December 31,

Change

(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016  $ %
Net sales $704.1 $710.1 $(6.0 ) (0.8)%
Cost of goods sold 553.0 5545 (1.5 ) (03)%
Gross profit 151.1 1556 45 ) 29)%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 163.8 168.1 (4.3 ) (2.6)%
Operating (loss) (12.7 ) (12,5 ) (0.2 ) NM
Interest expense 2.7 1.5 1.2
Other expense, net 3.7 6.9 3.2 )
(Loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (19.1 ) (209 ) 1.8
Income tax (benefit) 20 HY@7 )27
(Loss) from continuing operations (17.1 ) (16.2 ) (09 )
(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax (24.7 ) 25.4 (50.1 )
Net (loss) income $(41.8) $9.2 $(51.0)

NM: not meaningful
Net Sales

Net sales by percentage point change are shown in the table below:
Year Ended Change Percentage Point Change Due
December 31, to

(Dollars in millions) 2017 2016 $ % Price Volume Mix Currency
$704.1 $710.1 $(6.0) (0.8)% (1.3) (2.3 ) 2.7 0.1

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily
due to lower volume and price, partially offset by favorable mix. Lower volume reflected a decline in sales of vinyl
sheet and laminate products, partially offset by higher sales of LVT, which continued to achieve double-digit growth,
and VCT. The decline in price reflected continued competitive pressure across our product categories. Favorable mix
was driven by growth from our LVT products relative to declines in traditional categories.

Operating (Loss)

Operating results for the year ended December 31, 2017 declined slightly compared to the year ended December 31,
2016. The decline reflected the impact of lower sales and higher input costs, partially offset by lower manufacturing
costs, including lower costs related to our Lancaster, PA LVT operations compared to the prior-year period, and lower
SG&A expenses.

Other expense, net: Other expense, net of $3.7 million and $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and

2016, respectively, primarily reflected costs for defined-benefit pension and postretirement plans and, in 2016, the
translation of unhedged cross-currency intercompany loans.
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Income tax expense: For the year ended December 31, 2017, income tax benefit was $2.0 million compared to an
income tax benefit of $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The effective tax rates were 10.5% and
22.5% for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The loss from continuing operations in 2017
resulted in the recognition of domestic valuation allowances in the period. These valuation allowances, net of the
effect from the geographic distribution of earnings and losses, resulted in a lower effective tax rate compared to 2016.

Discontinued operations: For the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (loss) earnings from
discontinued operations primarily reflected the operating results of our former North American wood flooring
business. For the year ended December 31, 2016, discontinued operations also included $1.7 million of non-cash tax
benefits for our former European resilient flooring business related to pension expense deductions. See Note 9 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In March 2017, our board of directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $50.0 million. The authorization
of the repurchase program is aligned with our goal to increase the efficiency of our capital structure over time while
preserving sufficient liquidity to invest in growth projects and other value-accretive opportunities. During 2018, we
repurchased $1.0 million of the Company's outstanding stock. From inception of the program through year end 2018,
we repurchased 2.5 million shares under the program for a total cost of $41.0 million. Any shares not used to fulfill
employee stock award obligation are held in treasury as of December 31, 2018.

Our primary sources of liquidity are, and we anticipate that they will continue to be, cash generated from operations
and borrowings under our new secured Credit Facility described below. We believe these sources are sufficient to
fund our capital needs, planned capital expenditures, and to meet our interest and other contractual obligations in the
near term, as well as any further share repurchases. Our liquidity needs for operations vary throughout the year with
the majority of our cash flows generated in the second and third quarters. We believe the absence of cash flow from
discontinued operations will not materially impact our future liquidity and capital resources.

Prior to the Spin-off, deemed transfers of cash to and from AWI’s cash management system were reflected in net AWI
investment in the historical combined financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $173.8 million as of December 31, 2018 of which $140.9 million was held in the
U.S.

Cash Flows
The discussion that follows includes cash flows related to discontinued operations.

The table below shows our cash provided (used) by operating, investing and financing activities:

Year Ended

December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Cash provided by operating activities $62.5 $62.9 $54.0
Cash provided by (used for) investing activities 60.6 (80.5 ) (36.9 )
Cash provided by financing activities 13.3 244 145
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Operating activities

Operating activities for 2018 provided $62.5 million of cash. Cash was generated from earnings exclusive of net
non-cash expenses, primarily loss on sale of discontinued operations, and depreciation and amortization. Changes in
working capital primarily reflected higher inventory levels, higher accounts payable and accrued expenses, and lower
accounts receivable.

Operating activities for 2017 provided $62.9 million of cash. Cash was generated through earnings exclusive of
non-cash expenses, primarily depreciation and amortization, impairment and pension, and by changes in working
capital. Changes in working capital primarily reflected lower inventories, partially offset by lower accounts payable
and accrued expenses and changes in other assets and liabilities.

Operating activities for 2016 provided $54.0 million of cash. Cash was generated through earnings exclusive of
non-cash expenses, primarily depreciation and amortization, partially offset by increased working capital. Increased
working capital primarily reflected net changes in inventories and accounts payable and accrued expenses.

Investing activities

Investing activities for 2018 provided cash of $60.6 million primarily due to the net proceeds from the sale of
discontinued operations, partially offset by purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Net cash used for investing activities of $80.5 million and $36.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively, was primarily due to purchases of property, plant and equipment. Included in the 2017 outflow
was the cash paid for the acquisition of the VCT assets of Mannington Mills, Inc. for $36.1 million including
transaction costs.

Financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $13.3 million, $24.4 million and $14.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Cash provided in 2018 primarily reflected proceeds from our new
debt facility, partially offset by net payments on our ABL facility. Cash provided in 2017 primarily reflected net
proceeds from debt partially offset by purchases of treasury stock. Cash provided in 2016 primarily reflected net
proceeds from debt and transfers from AWI, net of the distribution paid at Separation.

Debt

In connection with the sale of the wood business, on December 31, 2018, we entered into a credit agreement (the
"Credit Agreement"). The Credit Agreement provides us with a $150.0 million secured credit facility (the "Credit
Facility"), consisting of a $75.0 million revolving facility and a $75.0 million term loan facility. The revolving facility
includes a $25.0 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit and a $15.0 million sublimit for swing line loans.
The Credit Facility is scheduled to mature on December 31, 2023. The Credit Agreement provides for a uncommitted
accordion feature that allows us to request an increase in the revolving facility or the term loan facility in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $25.0 million.

As of December 31, 2018, total borrowings outstanding under our Credit Facility were $75.0 million under Term

Loan A and $25.0 million under the revolving Credit Facility, while outstanding letters of credit were $3.9 million.
Proceeds from the new Credit Facility were utilized to repay borrowings of $94.0 million under the $225.0 million
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ABL facility dated April 1, 2016. The $225.0 million ABL Facility was closed as of December 31, 2018, without
penalty. Capitalized fees related to the ABL facility of $0.6 million were expensed as of December 31, 2018.
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Borrowings under the new Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to an adjusted base rate or the London Interbank
Offered Rate ("LIBOR") plus an applicable margin, which varies according to the net leverage ratio and was 0.75% as
of December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate of 6.25% was determined using the base rate plus
applicable margin. On January 4, 2019, the interest rate of 4.26% was determined as borrowings were converted to use
LIBOR plus the applicable margin. We are required to pay a commitment fee, payable quarterly in arrears, on the
average daily unused amount of the revolving Credit Facility, which varies according to the net leverage ratio and was
0.20% as of December 31, 2018. Outstanding letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility are subject to fees which
will be due quarterly in arrears based on the applicable margin described above plus a fronting fee. The total rate for
letters of credit was 1.875% as of December 31, 2018.

All obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by each of our wholly owned domestic subsidiaries that
individually, or together with its subsidiaries, has assets of more than $1.0 million. All obligations under the Credit
Agreement, and guarantees of those obligations, are secured by all of the present and future assets of the Company
and the guarantors, subject to certain exceptions and exclusions as set forth in the Credit Agreement and other security
and collateral documents.

Borrowings under the revolving portion of the Credit Facility are presented on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as a
short-term obligation. Borrowings under the Term Loan A portion of the Credit Facility are segregated on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet with $70.6 million net of fees shown as a long-term obligation and $3.7 million presented
as a short-term obligation due to quarterly principal repayment installments.

Debt Covenants

The Credit Agreement requires us to comply with certain financial covenants calculated for the Company and its
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Specifically, the Credit Agreement requires that we and our subsidiaries not:

Permit the Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) at any time to be greater than 3.00
to 1.00; and

Permit the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) at any time to be less than
1.25 to 1.00.

The Credit Agreement also contains customary affirmative covenants and events of default, including a cross-default
provision in respect of any other indebtedness that has an aggregate principal amount exceeding $15.0 million.

Our foreign subsidiaries had available lines of credit totaling $8.7 million; there were no borrowing under these lines
of credit as of December 31, 2018.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

No disclosures are required pursuant to Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

Contractual Obligations
As part of our normal operations, we enter into numerous contractual obligations that require specific payments during

the term of the various agreements. The following table includes amounts under contractual obligations existing as of
December 31, 2018. Only known payments that are dependent solely on the passage of time are included. Obligations
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under contracts that contain minimum payment amounts are shown at the minimum payment amount. Contracts that
contain variable payment structures without minimum payments are excluded. Purchase orders that are entered into in
the normal course of business are also excluded because they are generally cancelable and not legally binding.
Amounts
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are presented below based upon the currently scheduled payment terms. Actual future payments may differ from the
amounts presented below due to changes in payment terms or events affecting the payments.

(Dollars in millions) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
Debt $3.7 $38 $75 $75 $775% — $100.0
Operating lease obligations (1) 100 7.1 20 03 02 038 20.4
Scheduled interest and fee payments @ 4.4 38 40 3.8 38 — 19.8
Unconditional purchase obligations ® 11.6 64 14 — — — 19.4
Pension contributions ) 02 — - — — — 0.2
Other obligations®) 60 — — — — — 6.0
Total contractual obligations $35.9 $21.1 $149 $11.6 $81.5$ 0.8 $165.8

(1) Operating lease obligations include the minimum payments due under existing agreements with non-cancelable
lease terms in excess of one year.

() For debt with variable interest rates, we projected future interest payments based on market interest rates and the
balance outstanding as of December 31, 2018.

() Unconditional purchase obligations include (a) purchase contracts whereby we must make guaranteed minimum
payments of a specified amount regardless of how little material is actually purchased (“take or pay” contracts) and
(b) service agreements. Unconditional purchase obligations exclude contracts entered into during the normal course of
business that are non-cancelable and have fixed per unit fees, but where the monthly commitment varies based on
usage.

) Pension contributions include estimated required contributions for our defined-benefit pension plans. We are not
presenting estimated payments in the table above beyond 2019 as funding can vary significantly from year to year
based upon changes in the fair value of plan assets, funding regulations and actuarial assumptions.

) Other obligations include inventory in transit where the title has not been assumed by us, however we are
committed to make payment once the shipment reaches its destination as per the contract.

The table does not include $1.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits under ASC 740 "Income Taxes." Due to the
uncertainty relating to these positions, we are unable to reasonably estimate the ultimate amount or timing of the
settlement of these issues. See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

This table excludes obligations related to postretirement benefits since we voluntarily provide these benefits. The
amount of benefit payments we made in 2018 was $8.0 million. See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information regarding future expected cash payments for postretirement benefits.

We are party to supply agreements, some of which require the purchase of inventory remaining at the supplier upon
termination of the agreement. The last such agreement will expire in 2020. Had these agreements terminated as of
December 31, 2018, we would have been obligated to purchase approximately $2.1 million of inventory. Historically,
due to production planning, we have not had to purchase material amounts of product at the end of similar contracts.
Accordingly, no liability has been recorded for these guarantees.

Letters of credit are issued to third party suppliers, insurance and financial institutions and typically can only be drawn
upon in the event of our failure to pay our obligations to the beneficiary. This table summarizes the commitments we
have available in the U.S. for use as of December 31, 2018. Letters of credit are currently arranged through our Credit
Facility. See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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(Dollars in millions) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
Other Commercial Commitments
Letters of credit $39 — — — — — $3.9

Critical Accounting Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
("GAAP"), we are required to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an
ongoing basis, using relevant internal and external information. We believe that our estimates and assumptions are
reasonable. However, actual results may differ from what was estimated and could have a significant impact on the
financial statements.

We have identified the following as our critical accounting estimates. We have discussed these critical accounting
estimates with our audit committee.

U.S. Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs — We maintain pension and postretirement plans throughout North
America, with the most significant plans located in the U.S. Our defined-benefit pension and postretirement benefit
costs are developed from actuarial valuations. These valuations are calculated using a number of assumptions, which
represent management’s best estimate of the future. The assumptions that have the most significant impact on reported
results are the discount rate, the estimated long-term return on plan assets and mortality rates. These assumptions are
generally updated annually.

The discount rate is used to determine retirement plan liabilities and to determine the interest cost component of net
periodic pension and postretirement cost. Management utilizes the Aon Hewitt AA only above median yield curve,
which is a hypothetical AA yield curve comprised of a series of annualized individual discount rates, as the primary
basis for determining the discount rate. As of December 31, 2018, we assumed a discount rate of 4.40% for the U.S.
defined-benefit pension plans. As of December 31, 2018, we assumed a discount rate of 4.30% for the U.S.
postretirement plans. The effects of any change in discount rate will be amortized into earnings as described below.
Absent any other changes, a one-quarter percentage point increase or decrease in the discount rates for the U.S.
pension and postretirement plans would change 2019 operating income by approximately $1.2 million.

We manage two U.S. defined-benefit pension plans, a qualified funded plan and a nonqualified unfunded plan. For the
qualified funded plan, the expected long-term return on plan assets represents a long-term view of the future estimated
investment return on plan assets. This estimate is determined based on the target allocation of plan assets among asset
classes and input from investment professionals on the expected performance of the asset classes over 20 years.
Historical asset returns are monitored and considered when we develop our expected long-term return on plan assets.
An incremental component is added for the expected return from active management based on historical information.
These forecasted gross returns are reduced by estimated management fees and expenses. The actual loss on plan assets
achieved for 2018 was 5.90%. The difference between the actual and expected rate of return on plan assets will be
amortized into earnings as described below.

The expected long-term return on plan assets used in determining our 2018 U.S. pension cost was 5.85%. We have
assumed a return on plan assets during 2019 of 6.30%. The 2019 expected return on assets was calculated in a manner
consistent with 2018. A one-quarter percentage point increase or decrease in the 2019 assumption would increase or
decrease 2019 operating income by approximately $0.9 million.
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We use the Society of Actuaries RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table with MP-2018 generational projection scales.

27

51



Edgar Filing: Armstrong Flooring, Inc. - Form 10-K

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Actual results that differ from our various pension and postretirement plan estimates are captured as actuarial
gains/losses. When certain thresholds are met, the gains and losses are amortized into future earnings over the
expected remaining service period of plan participants, which is approximately eight years for our U.S. pension plans
and nine years for our U.S. postretirement plans. Changes in assumptions could have significant effects on earnings in
future years.

See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Impairments of Intangible and Tangible Assets — We review long-lived asset groups, which include long-lived
intangible and tangible assets, for impairment when indicators of impairment exist, such as operating losses and/or
negative cash flows. If an evaluation of the undiscounted future cash flows generated by the asset indicates
impairment, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value, which is based on its discounted future cash flows.
The principal assumption used in these impairment tests is future cash flows, which are derived from those used in our
operating plan and strategic planning processes.

The revenue and cash flow estimates used in applying our impairment and recoverability tests are based on
management’s analysis of information available at the time of the impairment test. Actual results lower than the
estimate could lead to significant future impairments. If future testing indicates that fair values have declined below
carrying value, our financial condition and results of operations would be affected.

There were no material impairment charges in 2018.

We cannot predict the occurrence of certain events that might lead to material impairment charges in the future. Such
events may include, but are not limited to, the impact of economic environments, particularly related to the
commercial and residential construction industries, material adverse changes in relationships with significant
customers, or strategic decisions made in response to economic and competitive conditions.

See Notes 2 and 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Income Taxes — For purposes of our Consolidated Financial Statements, for the periods prior to April 1, 2016, we
recorded income tax expense and deferred tax balances as if we filed separate tax returns on a stand-alone basis apart
from AWI, which we refer to as the “separate return method.” The separate return method applies the accounting
guidance for income taxes to the stand-alone financial statements as if we were a separate taxpayer and a stand-alone
enterprise for the periods presented. The calculation of the provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and
liabilities, valuation allowances against deferred tax assets, and accruals for uncertain tax positions on a separate
return basis requires a considerable amount of judgment and use of both estimates and allocations. As a stand-alone
entity, our deferred taxes and effective tax rate may differ from those in the historical periods.

Our effective tax rate is primarily determined based on our pre-tax income and the statutory income tax rates in the
jurisdictions in which we operate. The effective tax rate also reflects the tax impacts of items treated differently for tax
purposes than for financial reporting purposes. Some of these differences are permanent, such as expenses that are not
deductible in our tax returns, and some differences are temporary, reversing over time, such as depreciation expense.
These temporary differences create deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets are also
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recorded for net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized by applying enacted tax rates to temporary differences that
exist as of the balance sheet date. We reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if,
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based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized. The need to establish
valuation allowances for deferred tax assets is assessed quarterly.

In assessing the requirement for, and amount of, a valuation allowance in accordance with the more likely than not
standard, we give appropriate consideration to all positive and negative evidence related to the realization of the
deferred tax assets. This assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and
cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability and foreign source income (“FSI”), the duration of statutory
carryforward periods, and our experience with operating loss and tax credit carryforward expirations. A history of
cumulative losses is a significant piece of negative evidence used in our assessment. If a history of cumulative losses
is incurred for a tax jurisdiction, forecasts of future profitability are not used as positive evidence related to the
realization of the deferred tax assets in the assessment.

As further described in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2018 includes net deferred income tax assets of $33.4 million. Included in this amount are deferred
federal income tax assets for postretirement and postemployment benefits of $16.7 million, foreign NOL deferred tax
assets of $16.3 million, state NOL deferred income tax assets of $0.7 million, and federal NOL deferred income tax
assets of $2.3 million. We have established valuation allowances in the amount of $29.7 million consisting of $17.5
million for foreign deferred tax assets, primarily foreign operating loss carryovers, $2.8 million for state deferred tax
assets, and $9.4 million federal deferred tax assets. While we have considered future taxable income in assessing the
need for the valuation allowances based on our best available projections, if these estimates and assumptions change
in the future or if actual results differ from our projections, we may be required to adjust our valuation allowances
accordingly. Such adjustments could be material to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inherent in determining our effective tax rate are judgments regarding business plans and expectations about future
operations. These judgments include the amount and geographic mix of future taxable income, the amount of FSI,
limitations on usage of NOL carryforwards, the impact of ongoing or potential tax audits, earnings repatriation plans,
and other future tax consequences.

We estimate we will need to generate future U.S. taxable income of approximately $69.6 million for state income tax
purposes during the respective realization periods (ranging from 2019 to 2038) in order to fully realize the net deferred
income tax assets.

Our ability to utilize deferred tax assets may be impacted by certain future events, such as changes in tax legislation
and insufficient future taxable income prior to expiration of certain deferred tax assets.

We recognize the tax benefits of an uncertain tax position if those benefits are more likely than not to be sustained
based on existing tax law. Additionally, we establish a reserve for tax positions that are more likely than not to be
sustained based on existing tax law, but uncertain in the ultimate benefit to be sustained upon examination by the
relevant taxing authorities. Unrecognized tax benefits are subsequently recognized at the time the more likely than not
recognition threshold is met, the tax matter is effectively settled or the statute of limitations for the relevant taxing
authority to examine and challenge the tax position has expired, whichever is earlier.

See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
Sales-related Accruals - We provide direct customer and end-user warranties for our products and honor approved
accommodation claims. Standard warranties cover manufacturing defects that would prevent the product from

performing in line with its intended and marketed use. Generally, the terms of these warranties range up to 30 years
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(limited lifetime), and provide for the repair or replacement of the defective product including limited labor costs. We
collect and analyze warranty and accommodation claims data with a focus on the historical amount of claims, the
products involved, the amount of time between the warranty claims and the products’ respective sales and the amount

of current sales.
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We also maintain numerous customer relationships that incorporate different sales incentive programs (primarily
volume rebates and promotions). The rebates vary by customer and usually include tiered incentives based on the
level of customers’ purchases. Certain promotional allowances are also tied to customer purchase volumes. We
estimate the amount of expected annual sales during the course of the year and use the projected sales amount to
estimate the cost of the incentive programs. For sales incentive programs that are on the same calendar basis as our
fiscal calendar, actual sales information is used in the year-end accruals.

The amount of actual experience related to these accruals could differ significantly from the estimated amounts during
the year. If this occurs, we adjust our accruals accordingly. We maintained sales-related accruals for warranty and
accommodation claims and sales incentives of $13.6 million and $13.0 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. We record the costs of these accruals as a reduction of gross sales.

Accounting Pronouncements Effective in Future Periods
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of recent accounting pronouncements including

the dates, or expected dates, of adoption, and effects, or expected effects, on our disclosures, results of operations, and
financial condition.

30

56



Edgar Filing: Armstrong Flooring, Inc. - Form 10-K
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Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates that could impact our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. We enter into derivative contracts, including contracts to hedge our
foreign currency exchange rate exposures. Forward swap contracts are entered into for periods consistent with
underlying exposure and do not constitute positions independent of those exposures. Derivative financial instruments
are used as risk management tools and not for speculative trading purposes. In addition, derivative financial
instruments are entered into with a diversified group of major financial institutions in order to manage exposure to
potential nonperformance on such instruments. Developments in the capital markets are regularly monitored.

We are subject to interest rate market risk in connection with our Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2018, our Credit
Facility provided variable rate borrowings consisting of a $75.0 million revolving facility and a $75.0 million term
loan facility. The revolving facility includes a $25.0 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit and a $15.0
million sublimit for swing loans, net of $3.9 million of letters of credit. The Term Loan A portion of our Credit
Facility bears interest at a variable rate based on LIBOR or a base rate plus an applicable margin. An assumed 25
basis point change in interest rates would change interest expense on our Credit Facility by $0.4 million if fully drawn
and outstanding for the entire year.

Counterparty Risk

We only enter into derivative transactions with established counterparties having a credit rating of BBB or better, and
counterparty credit default swap levels and credit ratings are monitored on a regular basis in an effort to reduce the
risk of counterparty default. All of our derivative transactions with counterparties are governed by master International
Swap and Derivatives Association, Inc. agreements (“ISDAs”) with netting arrangements. These agreements can limit
our exposure in situations where we have gain and loss positions outstanding with a single counterparty. We neither
post nor receive cash collateral with any counterparty for our derivative transactions. As of December 31, 2018, we
had no cash collateral posted or received for any of our derivative transactions. These ISDAs do not have credit
contingent features; however, a default under our Credit Facility would trigger a default under these agreements.

Exchange Rate Sensitivity

We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries and, as a result, we are exposed to movements in
foreign currency exchange rates. To a large extent, our global manufacturing and sales provide a natural hedge of
foreign currency exchange rate movement, as foreign currency expenses generally offset foreign currency revenues.
AFI enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to reduce its remaining exposure. As of December 31,
2018, our major foreign currency exposures are to the Canadian Dollar, the Chinese Renminbi, and the Australian
Dollar. A 10% strengthening of all currencies against the U.S. dollar compared to December 31, 2018 levels would
increase our forecasted 2019 earnings before income taxes by approximately $0.4 million, including the impact of
current foreign currency forward exchange contracts.

The table below details our outstanding currency instruments as of December 31, 2018:

N Maturing Maturing
(Dollars in millions) 12019 in 2020 Total
On Balance Sheet Foreign Exchange Related Derivatives

Notional amounts $390 $ 3.6 $42.6
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Item 8. Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Financial Statements:
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31. 2018. 2017 and 2016

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31. 2018. 2017
and 2016

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31. 2018. 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors

Armstrong Flooring, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2018, and the related notes and financial statement schedule of valuation and qualifying reserves (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 5, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and the related
FASB Accounting Standard Updates using the modified retrospective transition method.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

March 5, 2019

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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To the Stockholders and Board of Directors

Armstrong Flooring, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes and financial statement schedule of
valuation and qualifying reserves (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”), and our report dated March 5,
2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting within Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 5, 2019
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Net sales

Cost of goods sold

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating (loss)

Interest expense

Other expense, net

(Loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax (benefit)

(Loss) from continuing operations

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations

Net (loss) income

Basic (loss) earnings per share of common stock:

Basic (loss) per share of common stock from continuing operations

Basic (loss) earnings per share of common stock from discontinued operations
Basic (loss) earnings per share of common stock

Diluted (loss) earnings per share of common stock:

Diluted (loss) per share of common stock from continuing operations

Diluted (loss) earnings per share of common stock from discontinued operations
Diluted (loss) earnings per share of common stock

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
$728.2 $704.1 $710.1
585.0 553.0 554.5
143.2 151.1 155.6
160.6 163.8 168.1
(174 ) (127 ) (125 )
4.8 2.7 1.5

2.9 3.7 6.9
(25.1 ) (19.1 ) (209 )
(6.0 )20 ) @7 )
(19.1 ) (17.1 ) (16.2 )
9.9 247 ) 254
(153.8 ) — —

(1439 ) (24.7 ) 254
$(163.0) $(41.8) $9.2

$(0.73 ) $(0.63) $(0.58)
(5.54 ) (091 ) 091
$(6.27 ) $(1.54) $0.33

$(0.73 ) $(0.63) $(0.58)
(5.54 ) (091 ) 0.90
$(6.27 ) $(1.54) $0.32
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Net (loss) income

Changes in other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments

Derivatives gain (loss)

Pension and postretirement adjustments

Total other comprehensive income (loss)

Total comprehensive (loss) income

Year Ended December
31,

2018 2017 2016
$(163.0) $(41.8) $9.2

6.0 )72 8.2)
1.7 1.5 ) a.6)
7.8 1.6 2.2

35 7.3 (7.6 )
$(159.5) $(34.5) $1.6

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in millions, except par value)
December 31, December

2018 31,2017

Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 173.8 $40.1
Accounts and notes receivable, net 39.0 52.6
Inventories, net 139.5 117.0
Current assets of discontinued operations — 149.5
Income tax receivable 0.6 3.6
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 18.0 27.5
Total current assets 370.9 390.3
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization of $318.8 and

| 296.1 310.6
$296.1, respectively
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization of $12.0 and $5.2, respectively 32.0 38.6
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations — 130.3
Deferred income taxes 5.6 14.0
Other noncurrent assets 3.6 6.3
Total assets $ 708.2 $890.1
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt $ 25.0 $—
Current installments of long-term debt 3.7 —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 141.4 124.1
Current liabilities of discontinued operations — 26.1
Income tax payable 0.5 0.8
Total current liabilities 170.6 151.0
Long-term debt 70.6 85.0
Postretirement benefit liabilities 55.7 69.9
Pension benefit liabilities 11.3 2.3
Other long-term liabilities 6.7 7.2
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations — 22.7
Noncurrent income taxes payable 0.2 0.1
Deferred income taxes 2.1 1.9
Total liabilities 317.2 340.1

Stockholders' equity:

Common stock with par value $.0001 per share: 100,000,000 shares authorized; 28,284,358
issued and 25,832,193 outstanding shares as of December 31, 2018 and 28,183,218 issued = — —

and 25,734,222 outstanding shares as of December 31, 2017

Preferred stock with par value $.0001 per share: 15,000,000 shares authorized; none issued — —
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,452,165 shares as of December 31, 2018 and 2,448,996 shares as of (39.7 ) (399 )
December 31, 2017 ’ )

Additional paid-in capital 678.6 674.2
(Accumulated deficit) (186.3 ) (31.8 )
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) (61.6 ) (525 )
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Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accmpanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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391.0
$ 708.2

550.0
$890.1
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(Dollars in millions)

December 31, 2015
Net (loss) income

Net transfers from (to)
AWI

Cash distribution paid to

AWI

Reclassification of net
parent investment to
additional paid-in
capital

Issuance of common
stock at separation
Stock-based employee
compensation, net
Other comprehensive
(loss)

December 31, 2016
Net (loss)

Net transfers to AWI
Repurchase of common
stock

Reclassification of net
parent investment to
additional paid-in
capital

Stock-based employee
compensation, net
Other comprehensive
income

December 31, 2017
Cumulative effect of
adoption of ASC 606

new revenue recognition

standard as of January 1
Cumulative effect of
adoption on ASU
2018-02 related to tax
reform as of January 1
Net (loss)

Accumulatecketaine q
Common Stock  Treasury Stock Net AW] Alet.lonaDther Earnings  Total
InvestmenPam_lrl Comp rehens%xeccumulateﬂ uit
Shares Amotfittares Amount bapital Income . quity
Deficit)
(Loss)

— $ — $— $6220 $— $20 $— $624.0
— — — — 0.8 ) — — 10.0 9.2

— — — 96.6 — (54.2 ) — 42.4

— — — (500 )— — — (50.0 )
— — — — (667.8 ) 667.8 — — —
27,738,779 — — — — — — — —
156,892 — — — — 5.5 — — 55
— — — — — — (7.6 ) — 7.6 )
27,895,671 $ — $— $— $6733 $(59.8 ) $10.0 $623.5

— — (41.8 ) (41.8 )

— — — — 0.8 ) — — — 0.8 )
(2,455,604 ) — 2,455,604 (40.0 ) — — — — (40.0 )
— — — — 0.8 08 ) — — —
294,155 — (6,608 ) 0.1 — 1.7 — — 1.8
— — — — — — 7.3 — 7.3
25,734,222 $§ 2,448,996 $(39.9) $— $6742 $ (525 ) $(31.8 ) $550.0

— — — — — — 4.1 ) 4.1 )

— — — — — (12.6 ) 12.6 —

(163.0 ) (163.0)
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Repurchase of common
stock

Stock-based employee
compensation, net
Other comprehensive
income

December 31, 2018

Edgar Filing: Armstrong Flooring, Inc. - Form 10-K

(69,353 ) — 69,353 1.0 ) —

167,324 — (66,184 ) 1.2 —

25,832,193 $ 2,452,165 $(39.7) $—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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— — — (10 )
44 — — 5.6

— 3.5 — 35
$678.6 $(61.6 ) $(186.3 ) $391.0
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net (loss) income

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations
Intangible asset impairment

Deferred income taxes

Stock-based compensation

U.S. pension expense

Write off of debt financing costs

Other non-cash adjustments, net

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables

Inventories

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Income taxes payable and receivable

Other assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Net proceeds from sale of discontinued operations
Proceeds from the sale of assets

Cash paid for acquisition

Other investing activities

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from revolving credit facility

Payments on revolving credit facility

Issuance of long-term debt

Financing costs

Payments of long-term debt

Payments on capital lease

Purchases of treasury stock

Cash distribution paid to AWI

Proceeds from exercised stock options

Value of shares withheld related to employee tax withholding
Net transfers from AWI

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Year Ended December
31,
2018 2017 2016

$(163.0) $(41.8) $9.2

55.1
153.8
24
54
6.8
0.6
0.8

16.3
(394
16.8
2.8
5.7
62.5

(353
90.2
5.7

60.6

82.0
(142.0
75.0
0.7
0.2
1.0
0.8
0.6
13.3
(1.6
134.8
39.0

787  46.6
125 —
30 )G2)
2.2 5.7
8.9 6.5

) (0.6 ) 6.0
25 )@3B2)

) 304 (19.8)
(105 ) 9.9
3.0 ) (@©.6 )
@84 H)Aa.1 )
629 540

) (44.8 ) (37.6)
0.4 0.5
36.1 ) —
0.2
(80.5 ) (36.9)

90.0 1100
) (25.0 ) (90.0)
) — (14 )

— (10.0)
)02 ) —

) (40.0 ) —

— (50.0)

14 03
) (1.8 ) —

— 55.6
244 145
)16 (1.0 )
84 306

306 —
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year from discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year of continuing operations
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosure:

Amounts in accounts payable for capital expenditures

Interest paid

Income taxes (refunded) paid, net

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Capital expenditures funded by capital lease borrowings

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$173.8

$173.8
$8.5
34
1.4

$—

$39.0 $30.6
1.1 ) @a.6 )
$40.1 $32.2
$7.8  $129
2.8 1.5

) 2.8 ) 8.1
$—  $12
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

NOTE 1. BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Business

Armstrong Flooring, Inc. ("AFI") is a leading global producer of resilient flooring products for use primarily in the
construction and renovation of residential, commercial and institutional buildings. AFI designs, manufactures, sources
and sells resilient flooring products in North America and the Pacific Rim. When we refer to "AFL" "the Company,"

we," "our," and "us" in this report, we are referring to Armstrong Flooring, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its
consolidated subsidiaries.

Former Parent Separation

On April 1, 2016, we became an independent company as a result of the separation by Armstrong World Industries,
Inc. ("AWI"), a Pennsylvania corporation, of its Resilient Flooring and Wood Flooring segments from its Building
Products segment (the "Separation"). The Separation was effected by allocating the assets and liabilities related
primarily to the Resilient Flooring and Wood Flooring segments to AFI and then distributing the common stock of
AFI to AWT’s shareholders (the "Distribution"). The Separation and Distribution (together, the "Spin-off") resulted in
AFI and AWI becoming two independent, publicly traded companies, with AFI owning and operating the Resilient
Flooring and Wood Flooring segments and AWI continuing to own and operate a ceilings business.

Discontinued Operations

On November 14, 2018, AFI entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Tarzan Holdco, Inc. ("TZI"), a Delaware
corporation and an affiliate of American Industrial Partners ("AIP"), to sell its North American wood flooring
business. On December 31, 2018, AIP completed the purchase of all of the issued and outstanding shares of
Armstrong Wood Products, Inc. ("AWP"), a Delaware corporation, including its direct and indirect wholly owned
subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation

The historical results of operations and financial position of the North American wood flooring business are reported
as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
historical information in the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements have been restated to
reflect the effects of the sale of the North American wood flooring business. For further information on discontinued
operations, see Note 9.

Prior to April 1, 2016, AFI operated as a part of AWI. The financial information for periods prior to April 1, 2016 was
prepared on a combined basis from AWI’s historical accounting records and is presented herein on a stand-alone basis
as if the operations had been conducted independently of AWI. Beginning April 1, 2016, the financial information
was prepared on a consolidated basis. The Consolidated Financial Statements of AFI presented are not indicative of
our future performance, and, for periods prior to April 1, 2016, do not necessarily reflect what our historical financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows would have been if we had operated as a separate, stand-alone entity
during those periods.

For periods prior to April 1, 2016, AFI was comprised of certain stand-alone legal entities for which discrete financial
information was available, as well as portions of legal entities for which discrete financial information was not
available (the "Shared Entities"). For the Shared Entities for which discrete financial information was not available,
such as shared utilities, taxes, and other shared costs, allocation methodologies were applied to allocate amounts to
AFI. The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for these periods include all
revenues and costs attributable to AFI, including costs for facilities, functions and services used by AFI. The results of
operations for those periods also include allocations of costs for administrative functions and services performed on
behalf of AFI by centralized staff groups within AWI, AWTI’s general corporate expenses and certain pension and other
retirement benefit costs for those periods. All of the allocations and estimates in the Consolidated Financial
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Statements are based on assumptions that AFI management believes are reasonable.
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

All charges and allocations of cost for facilities, functions and services performed by AWI prior to the Spin-off were
deemed paid by AFI to AWI in cash, in the period in which the cost was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. Prior to the Spin-off, transactions between AWI and AFI were accounted for through net AWI investment.
Prior to the Spin-off, AFI’s portion of current income taxes payable was deemed to have been remitted to AWI in the
period the related tax expense was recorded. AFI’s portion of current income taxes receivable was deemed to have
been remitted to AFI by AWI in the period to which the receivable applies only to the extent that a refund of such
taxes could have been recognized by AFI on a stand-alone basis under the law of the relevant taxing jurisdiction.
NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation Policy

The Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying data in this report include the accounts of AFI and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated from the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Use of Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"),
which requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. When preparing an estimate, management determines the
amount based upon the consideration of relevant internal and external information. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior year’s Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes and schedule thereto have
been recast to conform to the 2018 presentation.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when control of the promised goods is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects
the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods.

Our primary performance obligation to our customers is the delivery of flooring products pursuant to purchase orders.
Control of the products we sell transfers to our customers at the point in time when the goods are shipped. Our
standard sales terms are primarily Free On Board (“FOB”) shipping point. Our typical payment terms are 30 days and
our sales arrangements do not contain any significant financing component for our customers. Our customer
arrangements do not generate contract assets or liabilities that are material to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Each purchase order sets forth the transaction price for the products purchased under that arrangement. Some
customer arrangements include variable consideration, such as volume rebates, some of which depend upon our
customers meeting specified performance criteria, such as a purchasing level over a period of time. We use judgment
to estimate the most likely amount of variable consideration at each reporting date.

We generally do not incur any incremental costs to obtain or fulfill our customer contracts that require capitalization
and expense such costs as incurred when the amortization period is less than one year.
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We disaggregate revenue based on customer geography as this category represents the most appropriate depiction of
how the nature, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows are impacted by economic factors. See Note 3 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for our revenues disaggregated by geography.
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Warranties

We provide our customers with a product warranty that provides assurance that the products we sell meet standard
specifications and are free of defects. We maintain a reserve for claims incurred under our standard product warranty
programs. We allocate a portion of the transaction price for each sale to our performance obligation to provide service
type warranties to our customers.

Sales Incentives
Sales incentives to customers are reflected as a reduction of net sales.
Shipping and Handling Costs

We treat shipping and handling that occurs after our customer obtains control of the products as a fulfillment activity
and not as a promised service. Shipping and handling costs are reflected as a component of cost of goods sold.

Advertising Costs
We recognize advertising expenses as they are incurred.
Pension and Postretirement Benefits

We have benefit plans that provide for pension, medical and life insurance benefits to certain eligible employees when
they retire from active service. The cost of plan amendments that provide for benefits already earned by plan
participants is amortized over the expected future working lifetime or the life expectancy of plan participants. A
market-related value of plan assets methodology is utilized in the calculation of expected return on assets. The
methodology recognizes gains and losses on long duration bonds immediately, while gains and losses on other assets
are recognized in the calculation over a five-year period. We use a December 31 measurement date for our pension
and postretirement benefit plans.

Taxes

For the periods prior to April 1, 2016, operations of certain businesses included in our Consolidated Financial
Statements are divisions of legal entities included in AWTI’s consolidated U.S. federal and state income tax returns, or
tax returns of non-U.S. subsidiaries of AWI. The provision for income taxes and related balance sheet accounts of
such entities have been prepared and presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements based on a separate return
basis. Differences between our separate return income tax provision and cash flows attributable to income taxes for
businesses that were divisions of legal entities have been recognized as capital contributions from, or dividends to,
AWI within net AWI investment.

The provision for income taxes has been determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income
taxes to reflect the expected future tax consequences of events recognized in the financial statements. Deferred income
tax assets and liabilities are recognized by applying enacted tax rates to temporary differences that exist as of the
balance sheet date which result from differences in the timing of reported taxable income between tax and financial

76



Edgar Filing: Armstrong Flooring, Inc. - Form 10-K

reporting.

We reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the available evidence, it
is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized. The need to establish valuation allowances for deferred tax
assets is assessed quarterly. In assessing the requirement for, and amount of, a valuation allowance in accordance with
the more likely than not standard for all periods, we give appropriate consideration to all positive and negative
evidence related to the realization of the deferred tax assets. This assessment considers, among other matters, the
nature, frequency
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Armstrong Flooring, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability and foreign source income, the duration
of statutory carryforward periods, and our experience with operating loss and tax credit carryforward expirations. A
history of cumulative losses is a significant piece of negative evidence used in our assessment. If a history of
cumulative losses is incurred for a tax jurisdiction, forecasts of future profitability are not used as positive evidence
related to the realization of the deferred tax assets in the assessment.

We recognize the tax benefits of an uncertain tax position only if those benefits are more likely than not to be
sustained based on existing tax law. Additionally, we establish a reserve for tax positions that are more likely than not
to be sustained based on existing tax law, but uncertain in the ultimate benefit to be sustained upon examination by the
relevant taxing authorities. Unrecognized tax benefits are subsequently recognized at the time the more likely than not
recognition threshold is met, the tax matter is effectively settled or the statute of limitations for the relevant taxing
authority to examine and challenge the tax position has expired, whichever is earlier.

We account for all interest and penalties on uncertain income tax positions as income tax expense.
Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are reported on a net basis.
Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the earnings attributable to common shares by the sum of the
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period and the weighted average number
of stock-based awards that have vested but not yet been issued during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects
the potential dilution of securities that could share in the earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short-term investments that have maturities of three months or
less when purchased.

Receivables

We sell the vast majority of our products to select, pre-approved customers using customary trade terms that allow for
payment in the future. Customer trade receivables and miscellaneous receivables, net of allowances for doubtful
accounts, customer credits and warranties are reported in accounts and notes receivable on a net basis. Cash flows
from the collection of receivables are classified as operating cash flows on the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows.

We establish credit-worthiness prior to extending credit. We estimate the recoverability of receivables each period.
This estimate is based upon new information in the period, which can include the review of available financial
statements and forecasts, as well as discussions with legal counsel and the management of the debtor company. We
provide allowances as events occur which impact the collectibility of the receivable. Account balances are charged off
against the allowance when the potential for recovery is considered remote. We do not have any off-balance-sheet
credit exposure related to our customers.

Inventories

78



Edgar Filing: Armstrong Flooring, Inc. - Form 10-K

U.S. inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, and cost is determined using the last-in, first-out ("LIFO")
method of accounting. Non-U.S. inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, and cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") method of accounting.

Property Plant and Equipment
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost reduced by accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is
recognized on a straight-line basis over assets’ estimated useful lives. Machinery and equipment includes
manufacturing equipment (depreciated over 3 to 15 years), computer equipment (depreciated over 3 to 5 years) and
office furniture and equipment (depreciated over 5 to 7 years). Within manufacturing equipment, assets that are
subject to accelerated obsolescence or wear, such as tooling and engraving equipment, are depreciated over shorter
periods (3 to 7 years). Heavy production equipment, such as conveyors, kilns and mixers, are depreciated over longer
periods (10 to 15 years). Buildings are depreciated over 15 to 30 years, depending on factors such as type of
construction and use. Computer software is amortized over 3 to 7 years.

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment when indicators of impairment exist, such as operating losses
and/or negative cash flows. If an evaluation of the undiscounted future cash flows generated by an asset group
in